OA 10.3.54

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID J WHITE
JUN 29 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clark

HOLMES COUNTY SCHOOL BOARD,

Petitioner.

SUPREME COURT CASE NO. 83,283 DISTRICT COURT NO. 93-917

VS.

TERRY DUFFELL and LINDA DUFFELL,

Respondents.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION OF THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER HOLMES COUNTY SCHOOL BOARD

Michael W. Kehoe
FULLER, JOHNSON & FARRELL, P.A.
316 South Baylen Street, Suite 560
P. O. Box 12219
Pensacola, FL 32581
904/434-8845

Attorneys for Petitioner Holmes County School Board

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Statement of the Case: Petitioner Holmes County School (School Board) petitions the Supreme Court of Florida for relief from the decision rendered by the First District Court of Appeal in Holmes County School Board v. Duffell, 630 So. 2d 639 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). The School Board was the appellant in the district court and the defendant in the trial court. Respondents are Terry Duffell and his wife Linda Duffell and will be referred to by name.

The First District decision below affirmed the trial court's denial of the School Board's motion for summary judgment. The motion for summary judgment generally sought to enforce the School Board's immunity or exclusive liability under the Workers' Compensation Act and specifically sought to enforce its right to avoid civil liability in light of Mr. Duffell's conscious election to obtain workers' compensation benefits.

Statement of the Facts: The essential facts of this case are undisputed. The School Board employed Terry Duffell as a custodian. On February 8, 1990, Mr. Duffell assisted in a school bus emergency evacuation drill by standing at the rear of a bus and helping students from the emergency exit door to the ground. During this exercise, another of the School Board's employees, a bus driver, allowed his bus to roll forward and pin Mr. Duffell against the bus from which he was extracting students.¹ Mr. Duffell was injured as a result of this workplace incident.

¹Since this case arrived at this Court on the denial of a motion for summary judgment below, the parties necessarily rely upon the pleadings of record to establish the statement of facts.

Mr. Duffell filed a civil complaint against the School Board in October 1990.² Mr. Duffell's complaint alleged that he and the bus driver "were assigned to unrelated works" for the School Board. He alleged that the bus driver negligently operated or maintained the school bus so that it struck him.

Meanwhile, Mr. Duffell sought and received workers' compensation benefits and medical care for his injuries arising out of the bus accident. The School Board provided the benefits and care to Mr. Duffell through its servicing agent Gallagher Bassett Services, Inc. Mr. Duffell ultimately hired an attorney to represent him in the workers' compensation matter and on September 11, 1991 he entered into a Joint Petition and Stipulation for the Entry of a Compensation Order Approving a Lump Sum Settlement, Not Subject to Modification or Review. On October 9, 1991, a Judge of Compensation Claims approved the joint petition. The workers' compensation settlement served to wash out claims arising from an earlier board-lifting accident as well as the subject bus accident. Pursuant to the terms of the settlement, the School Board paid Mr. Duffell \$34,100 and continues to provide medical treatment as necessary.

In the settlement, Mr. Duffell specifically stipulated that "all compensable accidents, injuries and occupational diseases are contemplated and settled," except for medical expenses. Mr. Duffell and the School Board also stipulated that Mr. Duffell "suffered an accident arising out of and in the course of his employment when

²His wife, Linda Duffell, also joined as a plaintiff seeking damages sounding in loss of consortium.

he injured his back and pelvis in an automobile accident." The School Board and Mr. Duffell further agreed as follows:

It is one of the express conditions and specific inducements for the instant compromise settlement that any claims of this employee arising out of the accident or accidents suffered while in the employment of the employer prior to the date of this stipulation and accompanying Joint Petition shall be disposed of, within the provisions of the Florida Workers' Compensation Act, and the employer/carrier shall be relieved and discharged from all liability for compensation, death benefits, rehabilitation benefits and past-incurred medical and medically-related expenses, penalties, interest, attorney's fees and costs, save for future medical expenses in accordance with the provision of said Act.

Following the workers' compensation settlement, and following the amendment to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.130(a)(3)(c) allowing appeal from a non-final order determining that a party is not entitled to workers' compensation immunity as a matter of law, the School Board sought to immediately enforce its right to immunity under the Workers' Compensation Act, and under principles of election of remedies.³

The trial court denied the School Board's motion finding that it does not enjoy workers' compensation immunity under the specific facts of this case. The trial court also found that the acceptance of workers' compensation benefits did not affect Mr. Duffell's right to bring an additional civil action.

The First District affirmed with an opinion.⁴ As to the election of remedies

³The School Board filed the settlement agreement between it and Mr. Duffell in support of its motion.

⁴The district court opinion states that the bus driver "negligently" allowed the bus to roll forward. However, the appealed trial court order below merely noted that the lawsuit was based on alleged negligence of the bus driver and made no specific

argument, the First District cited cases such as this Court's decision in Mandico v. Taos Construction, Inc., 605 So. 2d 850 (Fla. 1992)(a claimant who claims and receives workers' compensation benefits will be found to have elected such compensation as an exclusive remedy where there is evidence of a conscious choice of remedies) and, without explanation, flatly announced that it did not find such cases controlling.

As to the question of whether the School Board generally enjoyed immunity under the Workers' Compensation Act, the First District denied any immunity to the School Board relying on its decision in <u>Department of Corrections v. Koch</u>, 582 So. 2d 5 (Fla. 1st DCA), <u>review denied</u>, 592 So. 2d 679 (Fla. 1991). <u>Koch allowed a public employee injured in the workplace to sue his governmental employer in a civil action because the co-employee tortfeasor worked in a job unrelated to the injured employee as contemplated by Section 440.11(1), Florida Statutes, and because, as a public employee, the sovereign immunity waiver statute required the employer to defend and pay.</u>

Petitioner's brief on jurisdiction pointed out particularly the conflict between the First District's decision in <u>Duffell</u> and this Court's holding in <u>Mandico</u>.

finding of negligence. Moreover, the issue of negligence was not presented to the trial court.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The respondent's conscious election of workers' compensation remedies make his election exclusive under this Court's decision in Mandico. As a result, the First District erred in failing to apply the dictates of Mandico. The First District also erred in relying on its own decision in Koch which does not allow tandem pursuit of both workers' compensation and civil remedies and which does not allow the principle of election of remedies to be ignored. Moreover, respondent agreed to forego any other claims against the School Board when he entered into his workers' compensation settlement.

The First District has further erred by reading the exclusivity provisions of the Workers' Compensation Act in conjunction with the sovereign immunity waiver statute to allow respondent tandem pursuit of remedies in both workers' compensation and civil arenas. It is clear the Legislature did not intend for governmental employers to be peculiarly exposed and neither is it in accord with general principles of statutory construction that the two statutes be read to abrogate the immunity a governmental employer normally enjoys under the Workers' Compensation Act.

ARGUMENT

WHETHER RESPONDENT IS ENTITLED TO BRING A CIVIL NEGLIGENCE CLAIM AGAINST THE SCHOOL BOARD WHEN HE CONSCIOUSLY ELECTED TO RECEIVE WORKERS' COMPENSATION BENEFITS AND ENTERED INTO A SETTLEMENT WITH THE SCHOOL BOARD ON WORKERS' COMPENSATION CLAIMS BASED ON THE SAME ACCIDENT.

A. (1) Terry Duffell's conscious election of workers' compensation remedies makes his election exclusive; (2) the <u>Koch</u> decision does not allow tandem pursuit of remedies; (3) Terry Duffell agreed to forego any other claims against the School Board when he entered into his workers' compensation settlement.

The First District Court of Appeal below failed to apply this Court's dictates in Mandico. Mandico holds that "one who claims and receives workers' compensation benefits will be found to have elected such compensation as an exclusive remedy where there is evidence of a conscious choice of remedies." Id. at 853. The First District recognized that Mr. Duffell had claimed and received workers' compensation benefits. Indeed, Mr. Duffell settled the indemnity portion of his workers' compensation claim for over \$34,000. Mr. Duffell has never disputed that he consciously chose to pursue workers' compensation benefits. Neither does he dispute that, with the benefit of counsel, he consciously entered into a settlement with the School Board. On such facts, application of Mandico would appear inescapable.

Nevertheless, the First District wrote that it did not find <u>Mandico</u> controlling. Instead it applied its earlier decision in <u>Koch</u> not only allowing Mr. Duffell to avoid the School Board's immunity under the Workers' Compensation Act, but also allowing Mr. Duffell to avoid the common law principle of election of remedies.

The common law principle of election of remedies embraced by the Mandico decision is not superseded by a "loophole" that is perceived to exist in the workers' compensation immunity provisions when read in conjunction with the sovereign immunity waiver statute. The First District in Duffell below described the "loophole" to governmental employer liability as follows: "An injured employee of a governmental entity may sue the governmental entity in a civil action, despite the occurrence of the injury in the workplace, so long as the injured employee does not work in a job related to the tortfeasor's job." Duffell, 630 So. 2d at 640.

Implicit in the First District's decision below is that the "loophole" espoused in its earlier decision in <u>Koch</u> was available to Mr. Duffell regardless of his conscious election to pursue and obtain remedies under the Workers' Compensation Act. There are at least two errors inherent in the First District allowing an injured employee's civil claim against a governmental employer in addition to his conscious collection of workers' compensation benefits from the same employer.

First, regardless of the merit vel non of the <u>Koch</u> decision, nothing in the <u>Koch</u> decision permits tandem causes of action or tandem pursuit of remedies in both workers' compensation and in civil court, forcing the governmental employer to defend dual litigation on the same nucleus of operative facts. On its face, the <u>Koch</u> decision merely allowed the survivors of a state employee to sue the state based on the happenstance that the death was the result of a coemployee who worked in a job that was unrelated to the deceased's job. It does not appear from the <u>Koch</u> opinion that workers' compensation benefits were pursued or obtained by the survivors.

Thus, neither <u>Koch</u> nor the "loophole" to immunity perceived in <u>Koch</u> explicitly allows an injured employee to subject his governmental employer to tandem litigation.

Second, the perceived "loophole" to governmental employer immunity is not superseded by the well established common law principle of election of remedies which forecloses Mr. Duffell's civil claim. The election of remedies principle stems from fundamental notions of judicial economy and fairness. See generally S & W Motors v. Mack Trucks, Inc., 198 So. 2d 70 (Fla. 1st DCA 1967). The courts cannot say on the one hand that an injured employee who consciously elects workers' compensation remedies is limited to those remedies, Mandico, but allow another similarly situated employee to make a conscious election, reap the rewards of such election, and then pursue additional civil remedies. This is particularly offensive in Mr. Duffell's case because the First District has allowed him to ignore established supreme court precedent on election of remedies on the mere fortuity (1) that he was injured by a coemployee in unrelated works and (2) that he was employed by a governmental employer. Such results in a profoundly unjustifiable and uneven-handed treatment of governmental employers as well as the emasculation of the election of remedies principle. The First District offered no rationale for such a result and there is no sound rationale available.

Moreover, not only did Mr. Duffell elect workers' compensation remedies consciously but he entered into a settlement agreement, with the assistance of counsel, in which he agreed that "any claims of this employee arising out of the accident or accident suffered while in the employment of the employer prior to the

date of this stipulation and accompanying Joint Petition shall be disposed of, within the provisions of the Florida Workers' Compensation Act..." Both the First District and the trial court chose to overlook the terms of this settlement agreement, without explanation. Thus not only did Mr. Duffell consciously elect his remedies and therefore is legally bound by them, but he consciously entered into a written agreement with the School Board in which he agreed to forego "any claims." 5

Accordingly, the School Board respectfully requests this Court invoke its dictates set out in <u>Mandico</u> and reverse the decision below by finding that Mr. Duffell's conscious election of workers' compensation remedies precludes a civil lawsuit against the School Board regardless of any perceived loopholes in the School Board's immunity under the Workers' Compensation Act.

B. There is no "loophole" to governmental employer immunity from civil liability under the Workers' Compensation Act.

As already pointed out, the First District's decision in <u>Duffell</u> ignores the terms of the settlement agreement between Mr. Duffell and the School Board, it misplaces reliance on <u>Koch</u> which does not allow dual pursuit of remedies or dual litigation, and primarily, it fails to apply this Court's dictates in <u>Mandico</u> because Mr. Duffell consciously chose workers' compensation remedies and therefore those remedies are exclusive. The <u>Duffell</u> decision below also endorses the notion that there exists a "loophole" to workers' compensation immunity a governmental employee

⁵Except that the agreement allowed Mr. Duffell to continue to obtain medical benefits from the School Board, as needed.

should normally enjoy. The First District's reliance on the perception that a "loophole" exists is also erroneous.

This Court recently set out the history of immunity under the Workers' Compensation Law in Eller v. Shova, 630 So. 2d 537 (Fla. 1993), which need not be recounted here. But fundamental to the legacy of workers' compensation immunity or exclusiveness of remedy is the concept of quid pro quo. As perhaps best stated by this Court's opinion in Mullarkey v. Florida Feed Mills, Inc., 268 So. 2d 363, 366 (Fla. 1972), the concept of immunity or exclusivity of remedy embodied in Section 440.11, Florida Statutes,

appears to be a rational mechanism for making the compensation system work in accord with the purposes of the Act. In return for accepting vicarious liability for all work-related injuries regardless of fault, and surrendering his traditional defenses and superior resources for litigation, the employer is allowed to treat compensation as a routine cost of doing business which can be budgeted for without fear of any substantial adverse tort judgments. Similarly, the employee trades his tort remedies for a system of compensation without contest, thus sparing him the cost, delay and uncertainty of a claim in litigation.

With the "loophole" perceived by the First District in <u>Duffell</u> and <u>Koch</u> government employers are faced with relinquishing the rational mechanisms of the workers' compensation system and can no longer treat workers' compensation as a routine cost of doing business as budgeted for through the process of appropriating tax dollars. Moreover, no longer can government employers rely on being able to avoid substantial adverse tort judgments (at least up to the statutory cap or insurance limits) in return for participation in the workers' compensation system. By comparison, the employee trades nothing and gains an additional remedial avenue at

the expense of his government employer. Certainly the legislature could not have intended such results.⁶ Thus, although there may be an argument that a "loophole" to governmental employer immunity appears to exist when reading the workers' compensation exception to exclusivity in conjunction with the sovereign immunity waiver statute⁷, it cannot be argued that the Legislature intended such a "loophole."

But even the perception of a "loophole" is not appropriate to indulge. Although Section 768.28(9)(a) clearly requires a governmental employer to defend and pay on claims against its employees based on simple negligence, that requirement only arises under facts such as presented by <u>Duffell</u> and <u>Koch</u> when the plaintiff happens to also be a government employee performing a job unrelated to that of the tortfeasor's job. Such an unusually detailed circumstance on which governmental employer liability is premised should not logically and legally be upheld to defeat the workers' compensation employer immunity that the governmental employer pays for and should enjoy. In other words, if the aim of the plaintiff's lawsuit is truly the governmental employer and not the tortfeasor who happens to be engaged in unrelated works, the courts should recognize the ill-begotten intentions and uphold the employer immunity afforded by the Workers' Compensation Act.

Accordingly, the School Board respectfully requests the Court reverse the decision below on the ground that the Workers' Compensation Act and the sovereign

⁶Indeed, there is a dearth of information regarding what the Legislature intended when it included the "unrelated works" provision among the exclusivity exceptions to the Workers' Compensation Act.

⁷Specifically, Section 768.28(9)(a), Fla. Stat.

immunity waiver statute read *in pari materia* do not render the conclusion that exclusive governmental employer liability is abrogated by circumstances such as the instant case presents.

CONCLUSION

Petitioner Holmes County School Board requests the Court reverse the decision below and remand with directions that summary judgment be entered in the School Board's favor.

FULLER, JOHNSON & FARRELL, P.A.

Michael W. Kehoe

316 South Baylen Street, Suite 560

P. O. Box 12219

Pensacola, FL 32581

904/434-8845

FL BAR NO. 0825883

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT