#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

HOLMES COUNTY SCHOOL BOARD,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. 83,283

vs.

First District Court of Appeal Case No. 93-917

TERRY DUFFELL and LINDA DUFFELL,

Respondents.

\_\_\_\_\_/

## ANSWER BRIEF OF Respondents, TERRY DUFFELL and LINDA DUFFELL

BARRY GULKER Florida Bar No. 0848379 Caminez, Walker & Brown 1637-B Metropolitan Blvd. Tallahassee, Florida 32308 (904) 386-5656

Attorney for Respondents Terry Duffell and Linda Duffell

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Neither Terry Duffell's acceptance of worker's compensation benefits nor settlement of his worker's compensation claim preclude the instant civil action. Mr. Duffell's claim is, in effect, a claim against a negligent co-worker; a claim which is clearly permitted under Section 440.11, Florida Statutes, which allows for civil suits against a fellow employee "when each is acting in furtherance of the employer's business but they are assigned primarily to unrelated works within private <u>or public employment</u>." Sec. 440.11(1), Fla. Stat. (emphasis added).

Because the co-worker is a public employee, the Sovereign Immunity Statute transfers the negligent party's liability to the state. Section 768.28, Florida Statutes, requires that any claim which Terry Duffell may have against his co-employee be brought against the School Board:

> "The exclusive remedy for injury or damage suffered as a result of an act, event, or omission of an . . .employee . . .of the State or any of its subdivisions. . . shall be a suit against the governmental agency. . . ."

Sec. 768.28(9)(a), Fla. Stat.

<u>Department of Corrections v. Koch</u>, 582 So.2d 5 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), <u>rev. den</u>. 592 So.2d 679 (Fla. 1991), which this Court declined to review, is precisely on point. In <u>Koch</u>, the court held that an employee of the state or a political subdivision could bring a civil action against his governmental employer, where he was injured as a result of the negligence of a co-employee, and where the co-employee was "assigned primarily to unrelated works."

In the instant case, Terry Duffell, a custodian, was injured as a result of the negligence of Robert Guy Lewis, a school bus driver. The trial court properly determined that Mr. Lewis and Mr. Duffell were assigned primarily to unrelated works, and that as such, summary judgment for the School Board based on Worker's Compensation immunity was improper.

Contrary to Petitioner's assertion, <u>Mandico v. Taos</u> <u>Construction, Inc.</u>, 605 So. 2d 850 (Fla. 1992) does not apply to the case at bar. <u>Mandico</u> involved an injured worker who collected worker's compensation benefits as an "employee" and then brought suit against his employer alleging that he was not a statutory "employee" for purposes of worker's compensation. This Court held that the plaintiff had made an election of remedies by choosing to accept worker's compensation benefits.

In the instant case, Mr. Duffell did not elect one remedy over another by seeking worker's compensation benefits. The doctrine of "election of remedies" or estoppel applies only in cases where such remedies are inconsistent. This is not the case here, where Respondents have never made inconsistent allegations, and clearly, both remedies are available to Mr. Duffell, despite claiming and receiving worker's compensation benefits, and, in fact settling his worker's compensation claim.

The decision of the First District Court of Appeal is based on a clear reading of the statutory language involved, and should therefore be upheld.

#### ARGUMENT

#### Ι.

THE SCHOOL BOARD IS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE NEGLIGENCE OF AN EMPLOYEE, WHEN SUCH NEGLIGENCE RESULTS IN INJURY TO A CO-EMPLOYEE WHO IS "ASSIGNED PRIMARILY TO UNRELATED WORKS".

A. <u>Section 440,11(1), Florida Statutes, provides</u> <u>Terry Duffell a cause of action in tort</u> against his negligent co-employee.

Section 440.11(1), Florida Statutes provides as follows, in pertinent part:

The same immunities from liability enjoyed by an employer shall extend as well to each employee of the employer when such employee is furtherance of the employer's acting in business and the injured employee is entitled to receive benefits under this chapter. Such fellow-employee immunities shall not be applicable to an employee who acts, with respect to a fellow employee, with willful and unprovoked wanton disregard or physical aggression or with gross negligence when such acts result in injury or death, or such acts proximately cause such injury or death, nor  $\operatorname{such}$ immunities be applicable shall to employees of the same employer when each is operating in the furtherance of the employer's business but they are assigned primarily to unrelated works within private or public employment.

Section 2, Chapter 78-300, Laws of Florida; Section 440.11(1), Fla. Stat.

When initially passed, the Worker's Compensation Act provided tort immunity to employers, but did not provide "fellow-employee" immunity. Section 440.11(1), cited above and enacted in 1978, extended tort immunity to co-employees of the same employer in certain circumstances, but retained the injured employee's right to sue his co-employee under other circumstances.

In its present form, the statute provides for co-employee immunity from suit in simple negligence cases, but also provides that such immunity does not extend to "employees of the same employer when each is operating in furtherance of the employer's business but they are assigned primarily to unrelated works within private or public employment." Sec. 440.11(1), Fla. Stat.

It is under this "unrelated works" exception that Respondent Terry Duffell brought the instant cause of action. At the time of his injury, Terry Duffell was engaged in "public employment" with the Holmes County School Board, as was his fellow employee, Robert Guy Lewis. Mr. Duffell was assigned primarily to the job of cleaning and maintaining the school facilities. As a bus driver, Mr. Lewis was assigned primarily to the task of transporting children to and from school. Indeed, in this appeal, the School Board does not even argue that Mr. Lewis and Mr. Duffell were not "assigned primarily to unrelated works within . . . public employment" under the terms of Section 440.11(1).

By including the final words quoted above regarding "public employment", the legislature retained for public employees, as well as their private-sector counterparts, the right which they had always enjoyed--the right to sue in tort when a co-employee negligently causes injury. The legislature could have passed a more ambiguously worded statute, applying to co-workers assigned "primarily to unrelated works" without stating more. However, the legislature, when drafting this law, specifically chose to include the phrase "in private or public employment." This language is

clear and unambiguous, and gives an injured <u>public</u> employee the right to bring an action against his co-employee for simple negligence provided the two are "assigned primarily to unrelated works."

The rules of statutory construction dictate that each and every word of a statute must be given force and effect. The only way for this court to adopt the position of the School Board (that worker's compensation is the only remedy for all public employees injured by a negligent co-worker) is to ignore the specific mandate of the legislature, in clear and unambiguous language. In so doing this Court would be holding that the final three words of the statute quoted above are a nullity, with no meaning whatsoever.

By its clear terms, the statute undeniably gives a cause of action to an injured employee to sue his negligent co-employee for a work-related injury, if they are "assigned primarily to unrelated works." This cause of action exists "within private <u>or public</u> <u>employment."</u> § 440.11(1), Fla. Stat. Therefore, the statute applies to Terry Duffell's injury as a result of the negligence of his co-worker, and gives Mr. Duffell the right to bring a civil action in addition to claiming Worker's compensation.

B. <u>Section 768.28</u>, Florida Statutes, requires that causes of action against public employees for job-related claims be brought against the public employer.

It is clear from the provisions of Section 440.11(1), Florida Statutes, that the Legislature intended to provide a civil remedy for private and public-sector employees who are injured by the

negligence of fellow employees in unrelated works. That remedy is a suit against the fellow employee. In the case of Mr. Duffell, this would mean a suit against Robert Guy Lewis, his fellow School Board employee.

However, when a cause of action involves a public employee, one must look to the provisions of Section 768.28, Florida Statutes, which reads, in pertinent part:

> [N]o . . .employee. . .of the State shall be held personally liable in tort or named as a party defendant in any action for any injury or damage suffered as a result of any act, event or omission of action in the scope of his employment or function. . .."

Sec. 768.28(9)(a), Fla. Stat.

Had Terry Duffell filed suit directly against Mr. Lewis, he would have run squarely against the above-cited provisions of Section 768.28(9)(a), Florida Statutes. This portion of the statute seems to give public employees immunity from suit for any acts of negligence which are committed in the scope of their employment. How, then, could Respondents maintain their cause of action against Mr. Duffell's co-worker, a cause of action clearly permitted by Section 440.11(1), Florida Statutes?

The two statutes are seemingly in conflict; they must be harmonized. Petitioner (and amici) suggest that the only way to interpret these statutes is to assume that the legislature did not intend to give a right of action to public employees when it amended Section 440.11(1), despite the specific language applying to "public employment." They suggest that Worker's compensation is Mr. Duffell's only remedy for this accident.

However, the Petitioner's interpretation ignores remainder of Section 768.28(9)(a), Florida Statutes, which further provides as follows:

"The <u>exclusive remedy</u> for injury or damage suffered as a result of an act, event, or omission of an . . .employee . . .of the State or any of its subdivisions. . . <u>shall be a</u> suit against the governmental agency. . .."

Sec. 768.28(9)(a), Fla. Stat. (emphasis added).

Thus, Section 768.28 does not abolish causes of action against public employees, but operates to transfer the liability of the public employee to the public agency for which she works. In <u>White</u> <u>v. Hillsborough County Hospital Authority</u>, 448 So.2d 2 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), the court interpreted the effect of Section 768.28:

> Here, the right of an injured party to seek redress has not been abolished. Rather, the legislature has merely substituted the state and its agencies. . . for the individuals who could have been sued.. . . Thus, appellant's cause of action has not been destroyed but has been converted to an action against a state agency.

White, 448 So.2d at 3 (citations omitted).

In <u>Department of Corrections v. Koch</u>, 582 So.2d 5 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), review denied 592 So.2d 679 (Fla. 1991), the First District Court of Appeal considered the same issues as those present in the instant case. <u>Koch</u> involved the death of an employee (Koch) of the Department of Transportation (DOT) as a result of the negligence of an employee of the Department of Corrections (DOC). Koch's family sued the DOC alleging that the tortfeasor was not a co-employee, (because the DOT and DOC were

separate agencies) and in the alternative, that the "unrelated works" exception applied and allowed a suit against the DOC. The court held that Koch and the tortfeasor were co-employees of the same employer (the State of Florida), and that the "unrelated works" provision of Section 440.11 allowed a suit against the coemployee. The court further indicated that the trial court "properly transferred liability from the employee to the state in accordance with Sec. 768.28, Florida Statutes." Koch, at 8.

Petitioners have made no attempt to distinguish <u>Koch</u> from the case at bar. This is because the facts of these two cases are indistinguishable. Here, as in <u>Koch</u>, the injured party and the tortfeasor are fellow employees of the same public employer; here, as in <u>Koch</u>, the injuries arose out of the course and scope of public employment; and here, as in <u>Koch</u>, the plaintiff and the negligent employee were engaged in unrelated work.

Petitioners have suggested that in the instant case, a distinction might be made based on Mr. Duffell's acceptance of Worker's compensation benefits (the election of remedies argument will be addressed later). Petitioner argues that "nothing in the <u>Koch</u> decision permits tandem causes of action or tandem pursuit of remedies. . .. It does not appear from the <u>Koch</u> opinion that worker's compensation benefits were pursued or obtained by the survivors." Initial Brief of Petitioner, p.7. However, according to the appellate record in <u>Koch</u>, Mr. Koch's family did receive Worker's compensation death benefits. (<u>Department of Corrections v.</u> <u>Koch</u>, Florida First District Court of Appeal Case no. 90-1705,

Initial Brief of Petitioner, p.1). Obviously, the First District Court of Appeals did allow "tandem remedies" in both <u>Koch</u> and the instant case.

Petitioner has argued that the Respondents are attempting to make a recovery in this case based upon a "loophole." It is suggested that Respondents are attempting to create a new cause of action under Section 768.28 to allow Terry and Linda Duffell to recover in excess of Worker's compensation. However, it has been held that Section 768.28, Florida Statutes does not create a new cause of action, but provides an additional remedy for causes of action which otherwise exist. <u>Airport Sign Corp. v. Dade County</u>, 400 So.2d 828 (Fla. 1981).

In the instant case, Respondents are not attempting to create a cause of action under Section 768.28; the cause of action already existed under Section 440.11(1). When the legislature enacted Section 440.11(1) in 1978, public employees were not afforded the same immunities from suit as they are now provided under Section 768.28, Florida Statutes, and Terry Duffell could have brought suit directly against his fellow employee. In fact, prior to 1980, he would have had several options: he could have sued his co-employee and the school board jointly; he could have sued only the school board; or, as mentioned above, he could have sued his co-employee only. <u>See District School Board of Lake County v. Talmadge</u>, 381 So.2d 698 (Fla. 1980) (discussing pre-1980 public employee immunity).

In 1980, the legislature amended Section 768.28 to provide that the "exclusive remedy" for suits against public employees "shall be a suit against the governmental agency." This amendment was made after the adoption of Section 440.11(1). It cannot be rationally argued that by amending Section 768.28, the legislature intended to repeal by implication the "unrelated works" provisions of Section 440.11(1) as to public employees, but that is precisely the result that Petitioners suggest. It is well settled in Florida that repeal by implication is not favored unless there is a clear legislative intent to do so. <u>Palm Harbor Special Fire Control District v. Kelly</u>, 516 So.2d 249 (Fla. 1987); <u>State v. Dunmann</u>, 427 So.2d 166 (Fla. 1983).

To adopt the School Board's position would give public employees a different status than their private sector counterparts, leaving them without a remedy. While private employees could sue fellow employees, government employees could not.

The School Board has asked this court to reverse the decision of the First District Court of Appeal. However, it can give no sound legal or public policy basis for doing so. To adopt the position espoused by Petitioners would abolish a right of recovery for public employees, without providing a reasonable alternative, a result not intended by the legislature. Therefore, the decision of the First District Court of Appeal should be upheld.

SINCE A CIVIL ACTION AGAINST THE SCHOOL BOARD AND SETTLEMENT OF A WORKER'S COMPENSATION CLAIM ARE NOT INCONSISTENT REMEDIES, THE ELECTION OF REMEDIES DOCTRINE DOES NOT APPLY.

A. Because the instant action does not allege a theory of relief inconsistent with a Worker's Compensation claim, the holding in Mandico v. Taos Construction does not apply.

At all times during this action, Respondents have contended that Terry Duffell's injuries occurred as a result of an on-the-job accident. Mr. Duffell has consistently maintained that both he and Mr. Lewis were acting in the course and scope of their employment when this accident occurred. Respondents' position has been that the civil action is essentially a third-party action, clearly permissible under the provisions of the Worker's Compensation Act. The only unusual feature of this case is that due to the operation of the Sovereign Immunity statute, the action against the negligent party is transferred to the School Board, who happens also to be Mr. Duffell's employer.

The School Board attempts to argue the doctrine of "election of remedies"; that is, that by seeking Worker's compensation (Comp) benefits, Mr. Duffell has waived the right to file a civil lawsuit. However, this doctrine is inapplicable where the remedies sought are not inconsistent.

In support of its "election of remedies" theory, Petitioner relies heavily on <u>Mandico v. Taos Construction, Inc.</u>, 605 So.2d 850 (Fla. 1992). Indeed, this Court's basis for accepting jurisdiction is an asserted conflict between this case and Mandico. However,

the facts of <u>Mandico</u> are so dissimilar, and the principle of law so inapplicable to the instant case that there can be no conflict between the two decisions.

The issue facing this Court in Mandico was whether an independent contractor, who is normally exempted from the required coverage under section 440.21, Florida Statutes (1983), can bring a suit for negligence against a general contractor, where the general contractor has provided worker's compensation coverage. In Mandico, the plaintiff argued that his worker's compensation premiums were taken out of his earnings against his will, "over Nevertheless, he applied for and received worker's protest." compensation benefits when he was injured on the job. The court held that even though the plaintiff was not a statutory "employee" for purposes of worker's compensation, he could be brought within the provisions of the worker's compensation law if a contract of worker's compensation insurance has been secured for his benefit (and his employer could enjoy immunity from common law liability). Mandico, at 852.

Petitioner relies on two sentences in <u>Mandico</u> to support his position:

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